#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES DONALD KILLEN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

Number 2009-CA-00765

MATTIE BEATRICE JENKINS KILLEN

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAUDERALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE LAWRENCE PRIMEAUX, CHANCELLOR, PRESIDING

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Steven D. Settlemires
MSB #
Settlemires & Graham
410 E. Beacon Street
Philadelphia, MS 39350
Telephone No. (601) 656-9597
Attorney for Appellant, James
Donald Killen

### **Certificate of Interested Persons**

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Donald Killen (hereinafter referred to as "J.D.") and Mattie Beatrice Jenkins Killen (hereinafter referred to as "Mattie") were married December 18, 1999. Prior to the marriage, Mattie and J.D. entered into an Antenuptial Agreement on December 14, 1999, in anticipation and in consideration for their upcoming nuptials. (R. 109)

Mattie and J.D. resided together as husband and wife until their final separation from each other in May, 2008. The separation of the parties followed an argument where Mattie accused J.D. of having an affair. Mattie moved from the marital home of her own free will (Tr. 109). Mattie did not make any attempts to return home or to attempt to reconcile her marriage with J.D. Instead, by her testimony, Mattie placed conditions for changes J.D. must make before she would attempt to return home to the marriage. (Tr. 110). However, Mattie couldn't specifically say what had to change before she would make an attempt to return. (Tr. 111).

One of Mattie's biggest complaints with J.D. concerned his brother. Mattie told numerous people that she was embarrassed by J.D. and his family. (Tr. 104). In fact, she even refused to go to the funeral of J.D.'s older brother. (Tr. 105). When Mattie's aunt passed away, she told J.D. to stay away from the funeral home (Tr. 105).

Mattie acted this way despite having full knowledge of J.D.'s family prior to her marrying him in 1999. (Tr. 105).

Mattie refused to go places with J.D. saying she was embarrassed which caused J.D. to be depressed. (Tr. 172). Mattie refused to allow J.D.'s only daughter, Jenny to visit in

their home without any justification for her refusal. Mattie even refused to allow J.D. to display pictures of his daughter and grandchild (R. 56, Tr. 173 -174). Mattie said she would leave "on two-weeks notice" if his daughter set foot in the marital residence. (R. 56; Tr. 173-174).

Mattie's actions caused J.D. pain and suffering. The Chancellor found that "J.D. is not in particularly in good health. He has had back surgeries, surgeries to remove shrapnel from the Vietnam War, gall bladder surgery and treatment for depression. (R. 57). In fact, J.D. had just spent two (2) weeks in the Veterans Administration Hospital in Jackson just before the trial was conducted. (Tr. 166-167).

Subsequent to abandoning her husband and the marital residence in May, 2008, Mattie filed a Complaint for Separate Maintenance on or about August19, 2008. Her Complaint requested the Court to order J.D. to be solely responsible for paying for her car note, insurance and tag; provide her a place to live and also, monthly payments of separate maintenance. (R. 3-4).

Mattie testified that at the time of the marriage, J.D. had in excess of \$15,000.00 in his checking account. (Tr.115). However, Mattie further stated that at the time she left J.D. the balance in his account was less than \$1,000.00. (Tr. 115).

J.D. is retired/disabled and receives monthly disability payments from social security in the amount of \$1,500.00 per month (Tr. 84). J.D. also receives \$424.00, per month from Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company, as retirement benefits from his twenty-four (24) years of employment at Weyerhauser Company (Tr. 83). J.D.'s Uniform Chancery Court Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure Statement evidenced over \$2,000.00 in regular monthly expenses (R. 33-42).

Mattie is employed as a switchboard operator for Jeff Anderson Regional medical center in Meridian, MS. She has an adjusted gross income of \$1,436.42, according to her Uniform Chancery Court Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure Statement. (R. 24-32).

Mattie listed \$3,243.48 as monthly expenses. However, on cross-examination, she stated she paid only \$200.00 per month for light bill, water bill, utility and cable, without any rent payment. (Tr. 101) Further, she admitted the expenses she had claimed on her financial statement, which she had sign under oath and admitted into evidence, were not a true and accurate reflection of her expenses. (TR. 101). In fact, her expenses would be significantly lower.

The Court ordered J.D. to pay the amount of \$200.00, per month to Mattie as separate maintenance. This payment would leave J.D. with a monthly deficit of several hundred dollars.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Cruelty may be proven by a series of acts, which taken together, cause pain and suffering to the innocent spouse. **Savell v. Savell**, 240 So.2d 628, 629 (Miss. 1970). J.D. suffers both physically and emotionally from Mattie's cruel and inhuman treatment of him. J.D. stated that he had just spent two (2) weeks in the mental ward, and that mentally he was "shell shocked", and that it just wasn't good (Tr. 174).

Mattie's actions toward J.D. of refusing to be seen with him in public, refusing to go to his brother's funeral, refusing to allow J.D. to attend her aunt's funeral, making comments that she was embarrassed by J.D., embarrassed by who his family was, refusing to allow J.D.'s daughter to visit, refusing to allow J.D. to display pictures of his daughter and granddaughter, making repeated false accusations of adultery, and her moving out of the marital home and refusing to even speak to J.D. constitute cruel and inhuman treatment and J.D. should have been granted a divorce thereon. Mattie's conduct toward J.D. is so unnatural as to make the marriage revolting to J.D.

Mattie should not have been awarded separate maintenance from J.D. Not only was she substantially at fault for the deterioration of the marriage, she voluntarily left the marital home and has steadfastly refused to return.

Separate maintenance is a court-created equitable relief based upon the marriage relationship and is a judicial command to the Defendant to resume cohabitation with the Plaintiff or in default thereof, to provide suitable maintenance of her until such time as they may be reconciled to each other. <u>Perkins v. Perkins</u>, 787 So. 2d 1256 (Miss. 2001); <u>Daigle</u>

v. Daigle, 626 So. 2d 140, 145 (Miss. 1993).

[W]here the wife contributes equally, or more, to the separation of the parties, she is not entitled to any award of separate maintenance. Rodgers v. Rodgers, 349 So. 2d 540 (Miss. 1997); Cox v. Cox, 279 So. 2d 612 (Miss 1973); Kergosian v. Kergosian, 471 So. 2d 1206 (Miss. 1985).

The learned Chancellor erred by awarding separate maintenance to Mattie because she was substantially at fault for the separation of the parties. Further, Mattie's refusal to resume the marital relationship prohibits her from receiving separate maintenance.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE NO. 1**

Whether the Chancery Court erred by not granting James Donald (J.D.) Killen a divorce from Mattie Beatrice Jenkins Killen on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

Mattie caused J.D. much emotional distress during a very difficult time. The transcript contains numerous examples of Mattie's inhumane treatment of J.D. there include but not limited to refusing to attend the funeral of J.D.'s older brother, refusing to allow J.D. to attend the funeral of her aunt. Refusing to be seen in public with J.D., telling other people she was embarrassed by him, making fake accusations of adultery moving out of the mental home.

Counsel for Mattie made much a do about J.D.'s family, (over objection from counsel for J.D.), in particular J.D.'s brother in an effort to defend Mattie's actions. However Mattie's knew of the accusations against J.D.'s brother prior to the marriage and should not be permitted to justify her actions there. Mattie's actions are to unnatural as to make the marriage revolting to J.D., as evidenced by the testimony of Jenny Tucker and Helen McCool.

Mattie's actions have contributed to J.D.'s health problems. Further, her actions were the proximate course of the separation of the parties. "Habitual cruelty means 'something' more than unkindness or rudeness of mere incompatibility or want of affection." <u>Bower v.</u> Bower, 688 So. 2d 1374 (Miss. 1997).

The court must not look at the intention of the parties, but of effect, while looking at the practices of the (wife) as they relate to the (husband). <u>Muhammad v. Muhammad</u>, 622 So. 2d 1239 (Miss 1993).

Cruelty may be proven by a series of acts, which taken together, cause pain and suffering to the innocent spouse. <u>Savell v. Savell</u>, 240 So. 2d 628, 629 (Miss 1970).

Constant criticism in connection with other conduct was found sufficient to prove cruel and inhuman treatment. Steve v. Stone, 824 So. 2d 645, 647 (Miss Ct. App. 2002); Rakestraw v. Rakestraw, 717 So 2d 1284, 1286 (Miss. 1998).

Dehumanizing treatment was found sufficient with other conduct to prove cruel and inhuman treatment. Sproles v. Sproles, 782 So. 2d 742, 747 (Miss 2001); and Bullock v. Bullock, 699 So. 2d 1205, 1210 (Miss. 1997).

Lack of emotional support was found sufficient along with other conduct to prove cruel and inhuman treatment. Robinson v. Robinson, 722 So.2d 601, 603 (Miss. 1998).

False accusations of adultery along with other conduct have been found sufficient to prove cruel and inhuman treatment. <u>Thames v. Thames</u>, 102 So.2d 868 (Miss. 1958); <u>Sproles v. Sproles</u>, 782 So.2d 742, 745 (Miss. 2001); <u>Richard v. Richard</u>, 711 So.2d 884, 888 (Miss. 1998).

Extreme jealousy along with other conduct was found sufficient to prove habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. <u>McBroom v. McBroom</u>, 58 So. 2d 831,831 (Miss. 1952).

Mattie's behavior of repeatedly telling others she was embarrassed by J.D., her refusal to be around any of J.D.'s family, her refusal to be seen in public with J.D., her assertions of being embarrassed by who J.D.'s family was, and her unsubstantiated accusations of adultery made the marriage untenable to J.D. Mattie's actions as a whole

constituted cruel and inhuman treatment. Mattie's behavior caused a physical burden and suffering on J.D. In fact, J.D. was hospitalized for two (2) weeks in the psychiatric ward of the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Jackson for depression just before the trial of this matter (R. 57; Tr. 166-167). J.D.'s uncontradicted testimony was that Mattie's refusal to go places in public with him was very depressing (Tr. 172).

Mattie called J.D.'s daughter a "low-life bitch", (Tr. 172), without any provocation from J.D.'s daughter or anyone else (Tr. 174). Mattie would not even let him display pictures of his daughter and grand-daughter. Mattie stated she would leave on "two (2) weeks notice" if J.D.'s daughter set foot in the marital residence. (R.56; Tr. 173-174). When asked what effects Mattie's action had upon him J.D. stated "I'm already, you know, gun ---- I'm already shell-shocked and I'm already — it just wasn't good". (Tr. 174).

The Chancellor found that J.D. is not in particularly good health. "He has had back surgery, surgery to remove shrapnel from the Vietnam war, gall bladder surgery and treatment for depression". (R. 57).

Mattie's actions are much akin to the wife in the case <u>McIntosh v. McIntosh</u>, 977 So.2d 1257 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). In <u>McIntosh</u>, the wife, inter alia, refused to attend church or social functions with the husband and accused him of having affairs. These acts, along with others, was conduct so unnatural as to make the marriage revolting to the innocent spouse.

All of the acts of misconduct by Mattie, taken together, including but not limited to, embarrassment at being seen and going places with J.D., baseless allegations of adultery, insulting J.D.'s daughter, refusal to let his daughter visit, stating she was embarrassed by J.D., constitute a series of acts which taken together caused pain and suffering to the

innocent spouse, J.D. <u>Savell v. Savell</u>, 240 So.2d 628,629 (Miss. 1970). Mattie's constant criticism and dehumanizing treatment, and unsubstantiated allegations of adultery clearly entitled J.D. to a divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. Mattie's conduct was so unnatural as to make the marriage revolting to J.D.

The Learned Chancellor erred by not granting J.D. a divorce from Mattie.

#### **ISSUE NO. 2**

Whether the Chancery Court erred by ordering J.D. Killen to pay separate maintenance to Mattie Beatrice Jenkins Killen.

At the very heart of the marital relationship there is a duty on the husband to support the wife and the duty of the wife to dwell with the husband. <u>Maxey v. Maxey</u>, 120 So. 179 (Miss. 1929).

"Separate maintenance is a court-created equitable relief based upon the marriage relationship and is a judicial command to the defendant to resume cohabitation with the Petitioner or in default thereof, to provide suitable maintenance of her until such time as they may be reconciled to each other." <u>Perkins v. Perkins</u>, 787 So.2d 1256 (Miss. 2001); Daigle v. Daigle, 626 So. 2d 140, 145 (Miss. 1993).

Where separation has occurred without fault on the part of the wife, she is entitled to be maintained according to same standard of living that she enjoyed during the period of togetherness. Robinson v. Robinson, 554 So.2d 300 (Miss. 1989); Thompson v. Thompson, 527 So.2d 617 (Miss. 1988); and Lynch v. Lynch, 616 So.2d 294 (Miss. 1993).

While she need not be totally blameless to pursue her case for separate

maintenance where the wife contributes equally, or more, to the separation of the parties, she is not entitled to any award of separate maintenance. Rodgers v. Rodgers, 349 So.2d 540 (Miss. 1997); Cox v. Cox, 279 So.2d 612 (Miss. 1973); Kergosain v. Kergosian, 471 So.2d 1206 (Miss. 1985).

Mattie not only contributed to the separation of the parties, she was the proximate cause. Mattie's misconduct includes, but is not limited to, Mattie's behavior of repeatedly telling others she was embarrassed by J.D., her refusal to be around any of J.D.'s family, her refusal to be seen in public with J.D., her assertions of being embarrassed by who J.D.'s family was, and her unsubstantiated accusations of adultery made the marriage untenable to J.D. Mattie's actions as a whole constituted cruel and inhuman treatment. Mattie's behavior caused a physical burden and suffering on J.D. In fact, J.D. was hospitalized for two (2) weeks in the psychiatric ward of the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Jackson for depression just before the trial of this matter. (R. 57; Tr. 166-167). J.D.'s uncontradicted testimony was that Mattie's refusal to go places in public with him was very depressing (Tr. 172).

Mattie called J.D.'s daughter a "low-life bitch", (Tr. 172), without any provocation from J.D.'s daughter or anyone else (Tr. 174). Mattie would not even let him display pictures of his daughter and grand-daughter. Mattie stated she would leave on "two (2) weeks notice" if J.D.'s daughter set foot in the marital residence. (R.56; Tr. 173-174). When asked what effects Mattie's action had upon him J.D. stated "I'm already, you know, qun ---- I'm already shell-shocked and I'm already — it just wasn't good". (Tr. 174).

The Chancellor found that J.D. is not in particularly good health. "He has had back surgery, surgery to remove shrapnel from the Vietnam war, gall bladder surgery and

treatment for depression". (R. 57).

Mattie left the marital residence of her own free will. It is undisputed in the record that J.D. did not force Mattie to leave, nor were there any threats of physical violence. There was not even a suggestion by J.D. as to what he would do if Mattie did not leave (R.56).

Usually in a separate maintenance case, the husband has left the residence and refuses to return home. This case has the opposite set of facts. Mattie moved out, refused to return home or even speak with J.D. about the possibility and then request J.D. to support her while she lives in a residence other than the marital home.

J.D. testified that Mattie could have come home. (Tr.81). J.D. further stated he did want Mattie in the house and tried to call her. Mattie had her number changed and didn't give it to J.D. (Tr. 82). J.D. even wrote her several letters (Tr. 82). Yet despite J.D.'s statements, Mattie said she could only return home and resume cohabitation, if J.D. would give up the other women of which Mattie accuses him (R.59). However, J.D. steadfastly denied any romantic involvement with any woman other than his wife. Mattie's allegations of another woman were without any support.

In <u>Lynch v. Lynch</u>, 616 So. 2d 294 (Miss. 1993), the grant of separate maintenance to the wife was reversed where the Court found her conduct had contributed significantly to the husband's departure from the marital domicile. In <u>Lynch</u>, since the wife had nagged constantly, had alienated her family, and had caused the separation with her husband, she was not entitled to demand and be awarded separate maintenance.

In <u>Steen v. Steen</u>, 641 So.2d 1167 (Miss. 1994), the wife had complained of the husband's nagging, criticism and lack of intimacy. It was determined she abandoned the

marriage without cause.

Mattie clearly abandoned her marriage to J.D. without cause. Her actions prior to and after the separation show her abandonment of the marriage without cause. It is almost ingenious for Mattie to leave the marital home and then claim she wants to resume the marriage and yet refuse to return to the marital home or otherwise attempt to do so. There was not any testimony of any attempts by Mattie to resume cohabitation and the marital relationship with J.D.

Mattie's actions significantly contributed to her departure from the marital residence and the separation of the parties. Yet now she places demands upon J.D., which are unfounded, before she would return.

The Learned Chancellor erred by granting any award of separate maintenance to Mattie due to her misconduct. Additionally, Mattie has not in good faith made any attempts to return to the marital domicile. As stated before, separate maintenance is a judicial command for the absent spouse, in this case J.D., to resume the cohabitation with the other spouse, Mattie. However, in this case, the situation is reversed as J.D. has remained in the marital domicile before, during and after these proceedings. J.D. continues to reside in the marital domicile and Mattie is the absent spouse who has refused to return.

When the wife is unwilling to live with a husband, she will not be entitled to support and her failure to do so will defeat any such claim. Smith v. Smith, 293 So.2d 266 (Miss. 1974). The husband is entitled to have his wife receive her support in his domicile, and her refusal to do so will defeat her rights to any claim for separate maintenance. King v. King, 191 So.2d 409 (Miss. 1996). One may not benefit, at the expense of another, as a result of one's own shortcomings or untoward behavior. Benson v. Benson, 608 So.2d 709 (Miss.

1992).

Mattie should not be allowed to benefit by her abandonment of the marital relationship. Likewise, she should not be allowed to benefit from her steadfast refusal to return to the marital domicile. Mattie is substantially at fault for the break-up of her marriage to J.D.

The Learned Chancellor erred by granting separate maintenance from J.D.

### CONCLUSION

Mattie caused J.D. much emotional distress during a very difficult time. The transcript contains numerous examples of Mattie's inhumane treatment of J.D. there include but not limited to refusing to attend the funeral of J.D.'s older brother, refusing to allow J.D. to attend the funeral of her aunt. Refusing to be seen in public with J.D., telling other people she was embarrassed by him, making fake accusations of adultery moving out of the mental home.

The Learned Chancellor erred by granting any award of separate maintenance to Mattie due to her misconduct. Additionally, Mattie has not in good faith made any attempts to return to the marital domicile. As stated before, separate maintenance is a judicial command for the absent spouse, in this case J.D., to resume the cohabitation with the other spouse, Mattie. However, in this case, the situation is reversed as J.D. has remained in the marital domicile before, during and after these proceedings. J.D. continues to reside in the marital domicile and Mattie is the absent spouse who has refused to return.

The Judgement of the Chancery Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi should be reversed and J.D. Killen should be awarded a divorce absolute of and from Mattie Beatrice Killen on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.