IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

| | DOCKET NUMBER 2009-CA-0076 | 55 | |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------|----|-----------|
| JAMES DONALD KILL | EN . | ; | APPELLANT |
| MATTIE BEATRICE JENKINS KILLEN | | | APPELLEE |
| | | | |
| | BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE | | |

Appeal From The Chancery Court Of Lauderdale County State of Mississippi

> COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE ROBERT J. BRESNAHAN Attorney At Law 1108 - 19TH Avenue P.O. Box 826 Meridian, MS 39302

Telephone: (601) 693-6386 Facsimile: (601) 693-6401_

MISSISSIPPI STATE BAR NO

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NUMBER 2009-CA-00765

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

J.D. has alleged nothing that would qualify as grounds for a divorce from Mattie. He has abandoned her, banished her from the marital home, and refuses to support her. The modest award of separate maintenance is justified and is supported by the evidence. Reasonable attorney's fees should be awarded to compensate Mattie for the expenses incurred by her.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION 1: THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI WAS CORRECT IN DENYING JAMES DONALD (J.D.) KILLEN A DIVORCE FROM MATTIE BEATRICE JENKINS (MATTIE) KILLEN ON THE GROUND OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT AS THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO JUSTIFY A DIVORCE. FURTHER, THERE WAS NO CORRABORATING WITNESS.

In *Diagle v. Diagle*, 626 So.2d 140 (Miss.1993), this Court reviewed the requirement to obtain a divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

This Court has recently restated the basis for divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. In order to establish habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, the evidence should prove conduct that:

either endanger[s] life, limb or health, or create[s] a reasonable apprehension of such danger, rendering the relationship unsafe for the party seeking relief, or in the alternative, be so unnatural and infamous as to make the marriage revolting to the offending spouse and render it impossible for that spouse to discharge the duties of the marriage, this destroying the basis for its continuance. S. Hand, Mississippi Divorce, Alimony and Child Custody § 4-12 (2d ed. Supp.1991).

Gardner v. Gardner, 618 So.2d 108, 113-114 (Miss.1993) (quoting Rawson v. Buta, 609 So.2s 426, 431 (Miss.1992)). "Although cruel and inhuman treatment usually must be shown to have been 'systematic and continuous,' see Robinson v. Robinson, 554 So.2d 300, 303 (Miss.199), a single incident may provide grounds for divorce. Ellzey v. Ellzey, 253 So.2d 249, 250 (Miss.1971).... A casual connection between the treatment and separation must exist. Fournet v. Fournet, 481 So.2d 326, 328 (Miss.1985)...." Gardner, 618 So.2d at 114.

The ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment may be established by a preponderance of the evidence, rather than clear and convincing evidence, and the charge "means something more than unkindness or rudeness or mere incompatibility or want of affection." *Smith v. Smith*, 614 So.2d 394, 396 (Miss.1993) (quoting *Wires v. Wires*, 297 So.2d 900, 902 (Miss.1974)).

Diagle v. Diagle, 626 So.2d 140 (Miss. 1993)

The specific allegations of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment listed in J.D.'s *Brief* against Mattie are as follows:

- 1. Mattie refused to attend the funeral of J.D.'s older brother.
- 2. Mattie refused to allow J.D. to attend the funeral of her aunt.
- 3. Mattie refused to be seen in public with J.D.
- 4. Mattie told other people she was embarrassed by J.D.
- 5. Mattie made false accusations of adultery.
- 6. Mattie called J.D.'s daughter a "low-life bitch."

7. Mattie would not let J.D. display photographs of his daughter and granddaughter.

Mattie's response to these allegations is as follows:

- 1. Mattie admits that she did not want to go to J.D.'s brother's funeral, because she wanted to avoid the embarrassment of a connection with Edgar Ray Killen, J.D.'s brother. Edgar Ray Killen, a convicted felon, was to be let out of jail to attend the funeral. T.V. coverage and news reporters were likely to be present. (Transcript, (hereinafter T) 29, 40) At Edgar Ray Killen's trial, J.D. had knocked down a news reporter and was suing the news media as a result. (T119) Because of the notoriety of Edgar Ray Killen, Mattie was afraid that her name or photo might be in the news. (T125, 126)
- 2. Mattie did request that J.D. not come to her aunt's funeral. That request originated with her family member with whom J.D. could not get along. (T121) J.D. had had "fusses" with Mattie's family to the extent that one niece had asked J.D. not to touch her children. (T121)
- 3. J.D. had a problem getting along with people other than Mattie's family. (T122) He would embarrass Mattie with fits he would throw

because of his inability to get along with others. (T104) He knocked down a news reporter during the trial of his brother, Edgar Ray Killen. He had a falling-out with the congregation at Blackwater Baptist Church because they allowed an inmate choir from the Lauderdale County Detention Center to perform gospel music at the church. (T121, 191) Although J.D. denies it, his witness, Billy Holiday, testified that J.D.'s objection to the inmate performance was that some of the inmates were black. (T201, 202) During a trip to the Smoky's, J.D. got aggravated with a couple with whom they were traveling because of the man's driving and ruined the trip for all concerned. (T206) He threw a fit and cursed the couple. (T123) While performing with a bluegrass band, he became agitated over the song selection and cut the strings to his mandolin in front of everybody. (T122) In addition, he had emotional problems that preceded the marriage, had been in and out of the psychiatric ward at the VA hospital since 1996 (T188), and had spent two of the three weeks prior to the final hearing at the psychiatric ward at the VA hospital. (T166, 167)

4. See answer to Number 3 above.

- 5. There was no accusation of adultery, although Mattie did call Renee his girlfriend. (T24, 38) For more on Renee, see J.D.s tortured explanation as to why this woman had his car. Also see a letter Mattie received at her work (Exhibit (hereinafter E) -77).
- 6. Mattie acknowledges making one disparaging remark about J.D.'s daughter (but not to his daughter) because the daughter wanted to move in with them (T18) with her "crack-head boyfriend." (T28) J.D., in his testimony, defended the young man, saying that he was not a dope head. "His teeth were rotted out from being a crack addict, but he has straightened his life up." (T46) The daughter testified that Mattie was pleasant, was not hostile (T149), that no names were called, and Mattie had never made a direct comment to her. (T151)
- 7. No such allegation was made in discovery that refusal, if any, to display photographs of family members constituted grounds for divorce, and although it's a minor point, an objection to the "no photos" contention was sustained by the Court. (T169)

Further, the record is devoid of any corroborating witness to support J.D.'s claim of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

| "The party alleging cruel ar | nd inhuman treatment typically must |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| corroborate the testimony." 403 (Miss.2008) | Shavers v. Shavers, 982 So.2d 397 |
| GBW v. ERW, 9 So.3d 1200 (M | liss. App.2009) |

J.R. totally failed to provide evidence to justify a divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, he had no corroborating witness, and the chancellor was correct in denying the divorce.

PROPOSITION 2: THE COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN GRANTING SEPARATE

MAINTENANCE AS THE PARTIES SEPARATED WITHOUT FAULT OF MATTIE KILLEN,

AND J.D. HAS WILLFULLY ABANDONED HER AND REFUSES TO SUPPORT HER.

J.D. Killen's argument that Mattie is not entitled to separate maintenance would be more credible had he not sued Mattie for divorce and continued to pursue a divorce through the appellate process. The parties separated because J.D. insisted that Mattie leave the marital home. By this appeal, he has conceded the point of abandonment with refusal to support.

In Diagle v. Diagle, supra, separate maintenance is described as follows:

"Separate maintenance is 'a court-created equitable relief' based upon the marriage relationship." Lynch v, Lynch, 616 So.2d 294, 296 (Miss.1993) (quoting Robinson v. Robinson, 554 So.2d 300, 303 (Miss.1989)). "It is well established that '[a] decree for separate maintenance is a judicial command to the husband to resume cohabitation with his wife, or in default thereof, to provide suitable maintenance of her until such time as they may be reconciled to each other." Lynch, 616 So.2d at 296 (quoting Bunkley & Morse, Amis on Divorce and Separation in Mississippi, § 7.00 (2d ed. 1957)).

This court has stated that the chancellor may grant the wife separate maintenance if the wife is without fault in the

separation, and the husband willfully abandoned her and refuses to support her. *Robinson*, 554 So.2d at 303 (quoting *Etheridge v. Webb*, 210 Miss. 729, 50 So.2d 603 (1951)). However, a wife is not required to be totally blameless to allow an award of separate maintenance, "but her (mis)conduct must not have materially contributed to the separation." *Lynch*, 616 So.2d at 296 (citing *Robinson*, 554 So.2d at 304)).

The testimony that J.D. has abandoned Mattie and will no longer support

her is as follows:

STATEMENTS OF J.D. KILLEN:

- 1. The reason that Mattie left the marital home is that I asked her to leave. (T5)
- 2. Even if I had access to more money, I would not provide for Mattie. (T9)
- 3. "I did ask Mattie to leave." I told her that I was going to file for divorce. (T13)
- 4. I asked Mattie to sign a *Joint Complaint for Divorce*. (T13)
- 5. I told Mattie when I married her that I was going to provide her with a house. (T13-14)
- 6. When it came time to separate, I (J.D.) asked her to leave. (T51)
- 7. "She got to packing her stuff and started moving, and I told her to take her time. And I -- and I kept saying, you know, 'I'm so sorry, this thing won't work,' but it was not another woman. I can tell you that." (T51)
- 8. I (J.D.) asked her to leave, and she, in fact, did leave. (T54)
- 9. The reason for the separation is that I asked her to leave the marital home. (T67)

- 10. I filed for divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. (T67-68)
- 11. As of this date, March the 18th, 2009, I want a divorce from Mattie. (T68)
- 12. I do not want to reconcile with Mattie. (T68-69)
- 13. I do not want to support her. (T69)
- 14. Prior to me asking Mattie to leave the marital home, I was having some contact with a woman named Renee. (T69)
- 15. The reason that Renee had access to my checkbook was because I allowed Renee to drive my vehicle. (T72.)
- 16. The woman who asked me to dance at the casino was Debra. She has long, blonde hair. (T74)
- 17. The woman who I was with at the fish camp in December was Helen McCool's little niece. (T75)
- 18. It was shortly after I danced with Debra at the casino in the spring of 2008 that I asked Mattie to get out of the house. (T75-76)
- 19. I told Mattie that she couldn't sign any more checks on the checking account. (T76)
- 20. I told her that I wanted a divorce from her. (T76)
- 21. After dancing with the young lady at the casino, Mattie asked me to have sexual relations with her, and I told her that I did not want to have anything to do with her. (T193)

More to the point as to the abandonment and refusal to support Mattie is the following exchange between the attorney for Mattie and J.D. Killen at the final hearing:

- Q. And you told her you wanted a divorce from her?
- A. Yes, sir. ...
- Q. And what you did was you presented her with a divorce, which was a

Joint Complaint for Divorce, that was signed by you on April the 8th, 2008?

- A. That's -- I'm not good with dates, but --
- Q. Is that your signature?
- A. That looks like my scribbling, yes, sir.
- Q. And is the date on there April the 8th, 2008?
- A. That is correct.
- Q. So, at that point in time you had determined that you no longer wanted Mattie to be your wife?
- A. I would say that's correct, sir.
- Q. You had determined at that point in time that you wanted her out of your house?
- A. That's correct, sir.
- Q. You had determined at that point in time that you no longer wanted to support her?
- A. Yes, sir, we had a prenuptial. Yes, sir.
- Q. ... You had determined on April the 8th, 2008 that you no longer wanted to support Mattie? ...
- A. Sir, to the best of my knowledge it is. ...
- Q. My question to you is you determined on April the 8th that you no longer wanted to support Mattie?
- A. I guess that answer would be correct.
- Q. Okay. Your answer to my question is, yes, you determined on April the 8th that you would no longer support her?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. ... And in fact, you have not supported Mattie in any fashion financially since April the 8th, 2008?
- A. I don't -- whenever it happened when she left, no I have not supported her since she left.
- Q. So, there was a separation sometime in the spring, possibly May of 2008, and you have refused to support her since that period of time?

A. That would be correct, sir. (T76-78)

Further in that exchange regarding the prenuptial agreement (E-19) is the following:

- Q. ... Does it not say perspective husband -- that would be you, wouldn't it? Wouldn't you be the perspective husband?
- A. I sure would.
- Q. During the continuance of his marriage with the perspective wife -- and that would be Mattie, wouldn't it?
- A. That's correct, sir.
- Q. Shall provide a home and maintain and support perspective wife. That's what it says, isn't it?
- A. Yes, sir, we were -- yes, sir. That's correct.
- Q. And the person who drafted this was an attorney who was representing you, Mr. Christopher Collins?
- A. That's correct....
- Q. You employed Mr. Collins --
- A. That's correct. I paid for that, sir.
- Q. -- to draft this antenuptial agreement?
- A. That is correct.
- Q. But irrespective of what this says, you haven't supported Mattie since May of last year?
- A. That is correct. (T79-80)

Also in that exchange and to demonstrate J.D.'s position is the following:

- Q. But now she can't come home, because you want a divorce and don't want her home?
- A. That's correct, sir.

- Q. So, at some point in time when you determined that you wanted a divorce, can I assume that that was about the time you file for divorce?
- A. I would assume it was. (T81)
- Q. Well, you've already testified that you want a divorce from her. My question to you really is at what point did you make that determination?

 I understood it was at the time of filing for divorce. Am I wrong?
- A. That's correct, sir.
- Q. At the time you filed for divorce is when you came to the determination that you didn't want to be married to her anymore?
- A. I would say that was correct, sir. (T83)

Further, the testimony of J.D. Killen was:

- Q. When you told Mattie she had two weeks to get out, was that before or after you signed a *Joint Complaint for Divorce*?
- A. Around about the same time, sir, I -- to the best of my knowledge.
- Q. And at that time you told her that you didn't have feelings for her anymore?
- A. That is correct, sir.
- Q. That was the way you felt then?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. ... When you told her that she had two weeks to get out, what you basically said is, "You have two weeks to get out, because I've already filed for divorce"?
- A. I would think that would be correct, sir.
- Q. But what you meant to say is, "I've already signed the divorce documents"?
- A. I'm gon' say to the best of my knowledge it was all in there -- it could

be, yes, sir. I would say that. (T85-86)

At the final hearing, Mattie's testimony was as follows:

- A. Well, after we went to the casino and the lady asked could she borrow -- could she dance with my husband, I knew there was a change. So, then that's when I wanted to make love with him. And he told me he didn't have no more feelings for me and that he had filed for divorce, and I had two weeks to get out. and he said, "And don't write no more checks, because I've closed the account."
- Q. The business at the casino -- do you know about when that was?
- A. That was around in -- that was around when he told me -- about two weeks before he told me to get out.
- Q. All right. So that the woman coming to him and asking him to dance, that was approximately two weeks before he told you to get out?
- A. Yes, sir. (T87-88)

Regarding the woman named Renee, J.D.'s association with her, and J.D.'s

Toyota Corolla, J.D.'s story never really gels:

TESTIMONY OF J.D. KILLEN:

- 1. "I sold the vehicle (to Renee) and had to repossess it." (T11)
- 2. "She (Renee) had took the car and was going to pay me for it and didn't." (T11)
- 3. "She (Renee) had an old car that I traded." (T11)
- 4. She had a brain tumor, and I let her use it. (T12)
- 5. "She told me that she wanted the car, and I told her to make the payments on it and I would let her have it." (T12)
- 6. "I knew her two aunts from going up to the casino, when we would go

- up. And they introduced me to their niece and she told me that she had an inoperable tumor and asked could she borrow my car." (T45)
- 7. "She (Renee) stole it (my checkbook) out of my car when she borrowed it." (T57)
- 8. "She (Renee) had my vehicle and she was in the process of buying my vehicle. And my checkbook was in there." (T72)
- 9. "She had my vehicle with the intention, sir, of buying it." (T73)
- 10. "And I told her (Renee) that she could take it and make my -- and go to the bank and pay for it if she wanted it." (T73)

Nevertheless, he told his friend Helen McCool, who testified on his behalf, that not only did he loan Renee his car, he also loaned her money. (T142)

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